SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RYBOVICH BOAT WORKS, INC. and
ROBERT C. FISHER,

Case No: 76052

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This suit was originally filed by a seller of real property against a purchaser for damages and to quiet title after the purchaser defaulted and interfered with the subsequent attempts of the seller to convey the property to a new purchaser. The purchaser filed a counterclaim for specific performance after the expiration of the one year statute of limitations applicable to specific performance actions. The seller's for Motion for Summary Judgment based upon the running of the statute of limitations was granted.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court by construing and extending the decision of this Honorable Court in Allie v. Ionata, 503 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1987) to allow the filing of the purchaser's time-barred claim for specific performance as a compulsory counterclaim. The Fourth District Court of Appeal rejected this Petitioner's argument that the Allie v. Ionata decision applied solely to pleas in recoupment seeking money damages and did not apply to a time-barred claim for specific performance. The Opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal concedes that there is no reported authority anywhere in the country which has allowed a time-barred claim for specific performance to be raised as a compulsory counterclaim.

On rehearing, the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified the following question as being of great public importance pursuant to Rule 9.330(a), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure:

Does the holding of Allie v. Ionata permit the maintenance of a time-barred claim for specific performance when it is filed as a compulsory counterclaim?

This Honorable Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), Fla. R. App. P. and Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution (1980).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 18, 1985, Petitioners RYBOVICH BOAT WORKS, INC. and ROBERT C. FISHER (hereinafter collectively "FISHER"), as Seller, and Respondent RANDALL W. ATKINS ("ATKINS"), as Purchaser, entered into a written Agreement for Purchase and Sale and Option of certain real property (the "Property") located in Palm Beach County, Florida. Appendix filed in the Fourth District Court of Appeal by ATKINS at 127.¹ The Agreement was subsequently modified by nine written amendments and is hereinafter sometimes referred to collectively as the "Agreements". Id. at 127, 194-217. The Ninth Amendment required ATKINS (and not FISHER) to establish the closing date by giving FISHER at least seven (7) days advance written notice and indicated that the closing date had to be not later than December 5, 1987. Id. at 216. However, ATKINS failed to provide the required notice and no closing took place. Id. at 129.

On February 12, 1988, FISHER sent a letter to ATKINS declaring him to be in default. On February 18, 1988, ATKINS sent a letter which declared FISHER to be in default of the Agreement. Id. at 226-27. Subsequently, FISHER attempted to sell the property to another buyer, but shortly before the closing, ATKINS' lawyer, acting on a tip from the broker in the original transaction, telephoned the title insurance company which had undertaken to insure the new buyer's title and indicated that ATKINS had an interest in the property. Id. at 3-4. As a result, the title insurance company refused to insure the new buyer's title over the claim made by ATKINS and the new transaction was therefore aborted. Id. at 4.

¹Hereinafter, all references to the Appendix duly prepared and filed in the Fourth District Court of Appeal by Respondent RANDALL W. ATKINS shall be in the form "ATKINS App. at ___."

On May 4, 1988, FISHER filed an action against ATKINS in the Circuit Court. Appendix filed in the Fourth District Court of Appeal by FISHER at

1.² The Complaint was subsequently amended and contained in five counts:

- a. Count I for breach of the Agreement;
- b. Count II for injunctive relief to prevent ATKINS from asserting any right, title, claim or interest in the Property;
- c. Count III to quiet title to the Property pursuant to Chapter 65, Florida Statutes;
- d. Count IV for damages for ATKINS' slander to FISHER's title to the Property; and
- e. Count V for ATKINS' interference with FISHER's subsequent agreement to sell the Property to the new buyer.

ATKINS App. at 1-10.

On May 10, 1989, more than a year after FISHER's suit was filed, ATKINS filed the Counterclaim For Specific Performance And Other Relief against FISHER without leave of court. ATKINS App. at 127-241.³ The Counterclaim was stated in three counts:

- a. Count I for specific performance of the Agreement;
- b. Count II for tortious interference with business relationships; and
- c. Count III for breach of contract damages in excess of Sixty-Five Million Dollars (\$65,000,000.00).

Id.

FISHER answered the Counterclaim and interposed, as one affirmative defense, that ATKINS' claim for specific performance was barred by the

²Hereinafter, all references to the Appendix duly prepared and filed in the Fourth District Court of Appeal by FISHER shall be in the form of "FISHER App. at _____."

³Rule 1.170(f), Fla. R. Civ. P., provides "when a pleader fails to set up a counterclaim or cross-claim through oversight, inadvertence or excusable neglect or when justice requires, the pleader may set up the counterclaim or cross-claim by amendment with leave of the court". ATKINS did not obtain such leave of court in violation of this Rule.

applicable statute of limitations. Id. at 245. Section 95.11(5)(a), Fla. Stat. provides that claims for specific performance must be filed within one year.

FISHER moved for Summary Judgment on ATKINS' counterclaim for specific performance and FISHER's count to quiet title to the Property. Id. The trial court granted FISHER's Motion for Summary Judgment on the basis that the statute of limitations for the specific performance claim had expired (because the claim was filed more than one year after the cause of action accrued) and quieted title to the Property in FISHER. Id. at 289-90.

ATKINS filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari with the Fourth District Court Of Appeal with respect to the Summary Judgment granted by the trial court. By Opinion filed March 14, 1990 (the "Opinion"), the Fourth District Court Of Appeal granted the Writ of Certiorari and quashed the Summary Judgment granted by the trial court. See Exhibit "A" to FISHER's Supreme Court Appendix. The Fourth District Court Of Appeal based its decision solely on the authority of Allie v. Ionata, 503 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1987). Judge Stone dissented, stating: "I cannot and would not make the leap from recognition of a right to assert a time-barred counterclaim in recoupment to allowing a similarly barred counterclaim for specific performance." Opinion at 4.

FISHER timely filed a Motion for Rehearing, Motion for Rehearing En Banc, and Motion For Certification pursuant to Rule 9.330(a), Fla. R. App. P. By Opinion filed May 9, 1990, the Fourth District Court Of Appeal stated:

We are sympathetic to respondent's legal arguments and, but for Allie v. Ionata, 503 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1987), might have adopted them. However, we are constrained by what we perceive the Allie holding to be. We deny the motion for rehearing but certify the following question to the Supreme Court pursuant to Rule 9.330(a), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, as a question of great public importance.

Does the holding of Allie v. Ionata permit the maintenance of a time barred claim for specific performance when it is filed as a compulsory counterclaim?

See Exhibit "B" to FISHER's Supreme Court Appendix.

FISHER timely filed their Notice To Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction with this Court. By Order dated May 29, 1990, this Court accepted jurisdiction and established the briefing schedule in this matter. This Court granted FISHER an extension to July 11, 1990 to serve this Brief.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A time-barred claim for specific performance should not be permitted under the reasoning of Allie v. Ionata, 503 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1987). In Allie v. Ionata, this Court was asked to pass upon the following certified question:

Does the running of the statute of limitation on an independent cause of action bar the recovery of an affirmative judgment in recoupment on a compulsory counterclaim?

Allie v. Ionata accordingly addressed the limited issue of claims in recoupment. Pleas in recoupment concern solely the recovery of monetary damages. Historically, defendants could raise pleas in recoupment only to the extent that their claim did not exceed the amount of the plaintiff's claim. Defendants could not recover a judgment on a plea in recoupment although they could entirely offset the amount of the plaintiff's claim. The historic inability of defendants to recover on pleas in recoupment for time-barred claims was reversed by this Court in its Allie v. Ionata opinion. The Court held that defendants could recover on their defensive pleas in recoupment notwithstanding the fact that the claims could not be raised as independent actions because they were time-barred.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal in the instant matter has decided that this Court's holding in Allie v. Ionata applies to all compulsory counterclaims, not merely pleas in recoupment. The Fourth District so held notwithstanding its express acknowledgment that a "specific performance claim is not similar to a claim in recoupment." Opinion at 3.

Allie v. Ionata merely decided time-barred pleas in recoupment filed as compulsory counterclaims could support monetary awards in favor of defendants. It addressed only pleas in recoupment and no other claims. The Fourth District's opinion in this matter thus erroneously extends the Allie v. Ionata rule to all compulsory counterclaims, regardless of their nature.

FISHER contends that insofar as specific performance is not a plea in recoupment, the Allie v. Ionata decision does not control the instant case. Moreover, the Allie v. Ionata doctrine should not be extended to claims for specific performance. The Florida Legislature set a one-year statute of limitations for specific performance claims, the shortest limitations period in the State of Florida. The Legislature has thus recognized the need for a party to proceed expeditiously if it intends to compel a party to perform a contract which has been breached. The Legislature clearly concluded that prejudice would result from a later-instituted action for specific performance. The Fourth District cannot assume away any prejudice from a later-filed specific performance claim merely because a suit for damages was previously instituted by the other party. The Legislature's clear intent in prescribing an extremely short statute of limitations for specific performance actions must be upheld by this Court and should not be struck down.

The fundamental fairness issue of the recoupment cases is absent here. In the cases relied upon by ATKINS, defendants were required to defend claims that plaintiffs could bring based on longer limitations periods while being unable to assert compulsory counterclaims subject to shorter limitations periods. Here, instead, FISHER acted quickly to assert their claims for damages and to quiet title. For over a year, ATKINS had the opportunity to raise his claims, but did not do so. He finally asserted his claims without leave of court. The instant case does not involve an innocent defendant who was blind-sided by a plaintiff calculatedly exploiting differing limitations periods. Rather, this Court has before it a defendant well aware of claims to quiet title which he actively defended and sat idly by, making no attempt to assert a claim for specific

performance to purchase the land whose title FISHER was trying to quiet. This is not a case where the defendant did not know exactly when his cause of action accrued. Fairness is not on the side of ATKINS who failed to assert his claim through neglect or for the purposes of delay. The sole blame for ATKINS not timely filing his claim for specific performance rests squarely on his own shoulders; the Allie v. Ionata rationale should not be extended to save him from his own neglect.

If this Court allows time-barred claims for specific performance of contracts for the purchase and sale of real property to be raised as compulsory counterclaims, Florida's entire real estate industry will be subjected to lengthy periods of risk and uncertainty which are unprecedented in any other state. A seller would have five (5) years from the breach of a purchase and sale agreement within which to file suit against the purchaser. Then, rather than proceed against the seller within one year, the purchaser would be free to counterclaim at any time thereafter for specific performance. If, as happened in the instant case, the counterclaim was not asserted for more than a year after suit was filed, claims for specific performance could potentially be asserted six years or more after the cause of action accrued, far longer than the Legislature has deemed appropriate. Moreover, allowance of tardy specific performance claims will affect not only the parties to the original contract but also third parties who may attempt to purchase or encumber the property.

The mere fact a specific performance claim could be allowed to be filed after the one year statutory period may render property unmarketable for up to six years after a failed attempt to close on an original contract. In the interim, title insurers will necessarily be compelled to include an exception from coverage in all of their policies. Consequently, purchasers

will refuse to close on subsequent contracts without obtaining releases from prior buyers, who may withhold releases for a price. Financial institutions and will not loan funds to purchase or refinance such properties. In the interim, sellers will not want to risk spending new money to improve, repair or replace worn out portions of their property. In this way, unscrupulous purchasers will be able to extend an "unmarketability stranglehold" on property for years beyond the one year statutory period. Sellers will be loathe to file suits against defaulting purchasers to recover deposits or to seek damages because, during the pendency of those suits, original vendees will be able to file time-barred claims for specific performance thereby rendering the sellers' properties unmarketable for many years. Indeed, sellers might be forced by subsequent vendees to warrant that they have not sued and contract not to sue prior purchasers during the pendency of any new contracts. Sellers and brokers will be bound to disclose to subsequent purchasers that a prior contract had failed or that breach of contract litigation was pending during which an original purchaser could file a time-barred claim for specific performance. If they should fail to do so, the sellers and brokers might be exposed to claims for fraud or misrepresentation. If the Court were to allow the one year statute on specific performance claims to be evaded, it is clear that the same logic would enable a contractor, materialman or laborer to respond to an owner's suit over construction defects with a counterclaim to foreclose a mechanics' lien beyond the one year period which the Legislature established for foreclosing mechanics' liens. The consequence of the Fourth District Court of Appeal decision is to unreasonably impede, complicate and restrain the alienation of property.

The Legislature mandated a one-year statute of limitations on specific performance claims. The Legislature did not provide for any conditions or exceptions. The Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision essentially ignores §95.051, Fla. Stat., in which the Legislature listed the circumstances which would toll the running of the Statute of Limitations. That Statute doesn't include the pendency of a suit for breach of contract concerning the subject property as an event which would toll the limitations period. The one-year statute on specific performance actions is only one part of an extensive legislative scheme which promotes marketability of title. The allowance of time-barred specific performance claims would amount to impermissible judicial legislation undermining the legislative policy to support marketability of title and limitation of claims.

The common law also requires that specific performance claims be filed with reasonable promptness. If time-barred actions were allowed, the results in specific performance cases would hinge on the subjective and discretionary decisions reached by individual judges as to whether those claims were filed with reasonable promptness. The uniform bright line established by the Legislature for such claims to be filed within one year would be erased. Simply stated, the public policy and legislative scheme favoring the certainty and marketability of Florida real estate titles will be severely impaired. The practical ramifications to such a holding could prove to be devastating. This Court should not extend the Allie decision to permit time-barred claims for specific performance.

ARGUMENT

THE HOLDING OF *ALLIE V. IONATA* DOES NOT AND SHOULD NOT PERMIT THE ALLOWANCE OF A TIME-BARRED CLAIM FOR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE WHEN FILED AS A COMPULSORY COUNTERCLAIM

A. *ALLIE* IS LIMITED TO A TIME-BARRED CLAIM IN RECOUPMENT FOR MONEY DAMAGES ONLY AND DOES NOT APPLY TO A CLAIM FOR SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE.

In *Allie v. Ionata*, 503 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 1987), this Court was petitioned to answer a certified question of great public importance, to wit:

Does the running of the statute of limitation on an independent cause of action bar the recovery of an affirmative judgment in recoupment on a compulsory counterclaim?

See *Allie v. Ionata*, 466 So.2d 1108 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). In *Allie*, Ionata sued for restitution and rescission of the purchase of several parcels of land from Allie. In defense, Allie pled the relevant statute of limitations and counterclaimed for the unpaid balance on the notes for two of the parcels. The trial judge entered judgment in favor of Ionata, but the Fifth District held that the action as to two of the contracts was barred by the statute of limitations. See *Allie v. Ionata*, 417 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 424 So.2d 761 (Fla. 1982). After remand, Allie revived his counterclaim for the balance due on the two notes. In response, Ionata interposed Allie's fiduciary breach and pled recoupment as a defense, requesting restitution and rescission of the contracts. The trial court granted Ionata's motion for summary judgment on the claim of recoupment and granted affirmative relief in the form of an award of monetary damages in favor of Ionata. On a second appeal to the Fifth District, the court reversed in part, limiting Ionata's recovery to the amount claimed by Allie. *Allie v. Ionata*, 466 So.2d at 1113.

The Fifth District's limiting of Ionata's recovery to the amount claimed by Allie directly conflicted with the holding of *Cherney v. Moody*, 413 So.2d 866 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). In *Cherney*, Moody, an attorney, represented Mr.

and Mrs. Cherney in a 1977 adoption. In January, 1980, Moody filed suit in county court for the collection of fees for those adoption proceedings. The Cherneys counterclaimed for compensatory and punitive damages. The trial court dismissed the counterclaim with prejudice on the ground that it sounded in legal malpractice and was barred by the two-year statute of limitations. Section 95.11(4)(a), Fla. Stat. (1980). It was undisputed that as of November 1977, the Cherneys were on inquiry notice of the accrual of a cause of action against Moody and that the notice commenced the running of the statute of limitations. Thus, the First District held that the Cherneys' cause of action for legal malpractice, as an independent cause of action, was barred by the running of the two-year statute of limitations by the time Moody filed his suit in January, 1980. Cherney v. Moody, 413 So.2d at 867.

The First District nevertheless concluded that it was an error to dismiss the counterclaim with prejudice. It based its decision, in part, on the fact that it is "well-settled that a counterclaim for recoupment may be asserted although barred by the statute of limitations as an independent cause of action," citing Payne v. Nicholson, 100 Fla. 1459, 131 So. 324, 326 (Fla. 1930).

The First District went on to observe that the Cherneys' counterclaim exceeded the jurisdictional amount of the county court and of Moody's suit for fees allegedly owed. That raised the issue of whether the Cherneys could recover an affirmative judgment above the amount sued on by Moody. The court stated:

There is conflicting authority as to whether a plea in recoupment which is otherwise barred as an independent cause of action may be used to obtain an affirmative judgment or may only be used defensively to reduce the amount the plaintiff demands. We have examined the history of the plea of recoupment in Florida and conclude for the reasons given below that a plea of recoupment may

be used to obtain an affirmative judgment even though barred as an independent cause of action by the statute of limitations.

Cherney v. Moody, 413 So.2d at 867.

The First District then set forth a scholarly historical examination of pleas of recoupment. The court noted that pleas of recoupment were originally defensive in nature and did not permit recovery of an affirmative judgment. This was contrasted with a plea of setoff which was of statutory origin and arose from a separate transaction or occurrence from the plaintiff's claim and permitted recovery of an affirmative judgment. Pleas of recoupment were converted into offensive pleas, and the distinction between recoupment and setoff largely eliminated by Chapter 14823, Laws of Florida (1931) which provided that pleas of recoupment "shall have the same force and effect, and create the same right of recovery to the defendant as pleas of setoff, and form the proper basis for judgment in favor of the defendant in the same manner and to the same extent as pleas of setoff." 413 So.2d at 868. The Court evaluated the referenced Act, stating:

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