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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The purpose of a statute of limitation is to protect persons from having to defend against stale claims. With the passage of time, memory fades, evidence is lost, and witnesses move. A statute of limitation, therefore, defines the amount of time a person has, after accrual of a cause of action, within which to file a lawsuit.

when a lawsuit is filed, however, the plaintiff effectively says that he is prepared to litigate all aspects of the controversy, including adverse claims that arise from the same operative facts, i.e., compulsory counterclaims. Having filed a complaint, the plaintiff cannot profess surprise or prejudice resulting from a compulsory counterclaim - by definition it involves the same evidentiary matters as the complaint. Therefore, because the purpose of a statute of limitation is not served by barring an otherwise untimely compulsory counterclaim, the claim is allowed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

Under this Court's decision in Allie, as well as under district court of appeal decisions that precede Allie, an otherwise time barred claim can be filed as a compulsory counterclaim. The history of the development of this sensible rule of law is instructive. Ironically, that history begins with two Third District Court of Appeal decisions that did not permit the filing of time barred compulsory counterclaims.

In <u>Horace Mann Ins. Co. v. DeMirza</u>, 312 So.2d 501 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), the plaintiff, just prior to the running of the applicable statute of limitation, sued the defendant for damages caused by the defendant's negligence in operating a motor vehicle. By the time the defendant counterclaimed for damages caused by the plaintiff's negligence in operating his own motor vehicle, the statute of limitation on the defendant's claim had run. Although the defendant's counterclaim was compulsory, the Third District, on a two to one vote, held that "the defendant's compulsory counterclaim, insofar as it sought affirmative relief for property damage done to [the defendant's vehicle], was barred by the statute of limitations." <u>Id</u>. at 503. In dissent, Judge Pearson wrote:

It seems to me that the intent of the present rules [of civil procedure] may best be carried out by a holding that a compulsory counterclaim is not barred by the statute of limitations when the principal action is not barred.

<u>Id</u>. Two years later, in <u>Diversified Mortgage Investors v.</u>
<u>Benjamin</u>, 345 So.2d 392 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977), another panel of the
Third District confirmed the holding in <u>Horace Mann</u>.

Subsequently, however, the First District Court of Appeal In Cherney v. Moody, 413 So.2d 866 took a different stance. (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), the plaintiff, an attorney, sued former former clients clients to recover attorney's fees; the counterclaimed for damages, in an amount exceeding the attorney's fees, caused by the attorney's legal malpractice. Although the attorney's complaint was filed within the statute of limitation period applicable to attorney's fees, the former clients' counterclaim was filed beyond the shorter statute of limitation period applicable to legal malpractice. The trial dismissed the counterclaim on the ground that it was untimely filed, and the First District reversed:

Even though we agree with the trial court that the [clients'] claim was barred as an independent cause of action by the expiration of the two year statute of limitations, we nevertheless conclude that it was error to dismiss the counterclaim. . . [A] counterclaim for recoupment may be asserted although barred by the statute of limitations as an independent cause of action. . . . Here, [the clients] stated a compulsory counterclaim in recoupment arising from the same transaction and occurrence as the [attorney's] complaint, and it was error to dismiss.

Id. at 867. A defendant can recover an "affirmative judgment"

on a compulsory counterclaim filed under Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.170. Cherney, 413 So.2d at 869. The First District acknowledged that its holding conflicts with that of the Third District in Horace Mann, but explained:

We agree . . . with the dissent of Judge Pearson in [Horace Mann] that the intent of the present rules [of civil procedure] will be best served by holding that a compulsory counterclaim in recoupment permits the recovery of an affirmative judgment even though barred as an independent cause of action by the running of the statute of limitations.

Cherney, 413 So.2d at 869.

Citing Cherney, in Evans v. Parker, 440 So.2d 640 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), the First District held that if a counterclaim arises out of the same facts that form the basis of the complaint, it is unnecessary to decide when the cause of action asserted in the counterclaim accrued, since "the counterclaim is best characterized as compulsory, i.e., in the nature of a claim for recoupment, and, therefore, is not barred by the statute of limitations." Id. at 641.

Recently, this Court expressly approved and adopted the reasoning and holding of the First District in Cherney. 6 In Allie, the purchaser of real property ceased making payments under the sales contract and sued the seller for rescission and restitution; the seller asserted the applicable statute of limitation as an affirmative defense, and counterclaimed for breach of contract. The trial court held the seller's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Thus this Court implicitly overruled <u>Horace Mann</u> and <u>Diversified</u> Mortgage.

counterclaim in abeyance, and entered judgment in favor of the purchaser on his complaint for rescission and restitution. The district court of appeal reversed on the ground that the action was barred by the statute of limitation. After remand, the seller revived his pending claim for breach of contract, and the purchaser interposed, this time as a compulsory counterclaim, his claim for rescission and restitution.

Although it was filed beyond the applicable statute of limitation period and could not have been brought as an independent action, this Court held that the purchaser's claim for rescission and restitution was allowable as a compulsory counterclaim. 503 So.2d at 1239-40. Specifically, this Court reasoned that because (i) a defense of recoupment can be asserted beyond the statute of limitation period applicable to the underlying claim, and (ii) a plea in recoupment can be used to obtain affirmative relief, there is no reason not to merge these two concepts into a rule that permits the recovery of an affirmative judgment on a compulsory counterclaim when the applicable statute of limitation bars an independent action:

It is well established that the defense of recoupment may be asserted even though the underlying claim is barred by the applicable statute of limitations as an independent cause of action. . . . The court below recognized this principle when it held that "a party otherwise barred from instituting an action because of a time limitation is freed from that bar when he acts in a defensive posture." Allie II, 466 So.2d at 1111. Moreover, in Florida, a plea in recoupment may be used to obtain affirmative relief. . . . The question is whether these two concepts should be merged in a rule which permits the recovery of an affirmative judgment in recoupment when the statute of limitations would bar the desired

relief as an independent cause of action. We are persuaded, as was the court in Cherney, that "the intent of the present rules [of civil procedure] will be best served by holding that a compulsory counterclaim in recoupment permits the recovery of an affirmative judgment even though barred as an independent cause of action by the running of the statute of limitations." 413 So.2d at 869. We adopt the analysis of Justice Shaw in Cherney.

<u>Allie</u>, 503 So.2d at 1239. This Court further reasoned that because the purpose of a statute of limitation is not served by disallowing an otherwise time barred compulsory counterclaim for affirmative relief, such a claim is allowed:

We are further persuaded by consideration of the purposes of statutes of limitation. The expiration of a statute of limitation does not resolve the underlying merits of the consequently barred claim in favor of either party; it merely cuts off the remedy of the party who has slept on his rights. . . . Limitation statutes are designed as shields to protect defendants against unreasonable delays in filing law suits and to prevent unexpected enforcement of stale claims. . .

Such statutes protect defendants claims asserted when all proper vouchers and evidence are lost and after the facts have become obscure from the lapse of time, defective memory or death and removal of witnesses. . . . It is the recognition of the inapplicability of these purposes which has led courts to develop the rule that one may raise as a defense a claim which would otherwise be barred by the statute of limitations. . . . [emphasis by court] party who seeks affirmative relief, whether through an original complaint counterclaim, effectively asserts that he is prepared to prosecute all aspects of that Having sufficient knowledge of the facts to support a complaint and sufficient evidence to prosecute that complaint, he must be prepared to defend against any affirmative defenses arising therefrom. Thus, once a party files an affirmative action, he cannot thereafter profess to be surprised by

prejudiced by affirmative defenses or compulsory counterclaims that stem from that action. The same rationale which permits the defense of recoupment at all on a claim which would be barred by the statute of limitations supports the recovery of affirmative relief. We can perceive no logical reason to prohibit an affirmative judgment in such circumstances.

Id. at 1239-40 (emphasis added).

Applying this rationale here, the conclusion is inescapable that Atkins' counterclaim for specific performance is allowable, despite the fact that it may have been filed more than one year after the cause of action accrued. Having filed a complaint against Atkins, Rybovich cannot profess surprise or prejudice as a result of compulsory counterclaims that stem from that action including Atkins' specific performance counterclaim. Rybovich has failed to demonstrate - in any of the three courts this case has visited - surprise or prejudice caused by Atkins' specific performance counterclaim. Other than, of course, that Rybovich would prefer not to have the claim pending. however, is not the test of prejudice. It is the inability to defend against a claim - as a consequence of the lapse of time and the loss of memory, witnesses, and evidence - that constitutes prejudice. See id. Having filed an action on a written contract, and having been served with a compulsory counterclaim for specific performance of that very contract, Rybovich obviously cannot profess surprise or prejudice.

In an effort to render <u>Allie</u> inapplicable, Rybovich argues that Atkins' equitable claim for specific performance is not the kind of claim that can be filed beyond the statute of limitation

period as a compulsory counterclaim. Rybovich contends that in <a href="Mallie">Allie</a> the purchaser filed a counterclaim for "damages" and a "money judgment," and therefore <a href="Mallie">Allie</a> applies only to claims for "damages" or a "money judgment." Rybovich is wrong.

As is clear from the opinion in Allie, in that case a seller of real property sued the purchaser for breach of contract, and the purchaser counterclaimed for the equitable remedy of rescission and restitution. Allie, therefore, involved an equitable counterclaim, not a counterclaim at law for only "damages" and a "money judgment." Consequently Allie applies to Atkins' equitable counterclaim. AA 132-133.

Indeed, Atkins' counterclaim is almost identical to the purchaser's counterclaim in Allie. Atkins' counterclaim seeks the equitable remedy of specific performance and damages. AA 132-133. In Allie, the purchaser's counterclaim sought the equitable remedy of rescission and restitution, or damages. Thus, both Atkins' counterclaim and the purchaser's counterclaim in Allie are for equitable relief, respectively specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Incredibly, Rybovich states in its brief that in <u>Allie</u> "the question was not whether equitable relief could be granted as a counterclaim although time-barred as an affirmative claim." This is <u>precisely</u> what <u>Allie</u> involved.

<sup>8&</sup>quot;The law in Florida clearly allows damages incident to granting specific performance," e.g., rents and profits derived "during the interim between the [seller's] default and the eventual closing." Walker v. Benton, 407 So.2d 305, 307 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Accord, Shelter Corp. of Canada v. Bozin, 468 So.2d 1094, 1097 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985); Hernandez v. Leiva, 391 So.2d 292, 294 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980).

performance and rescission, and damages. Because it was compulsory, the counterclaim in <u>Allie</u> was allowable; because it is compulsory, so is the one here.

Nor is the holding in <u>Allie</u> as restrictive as Rybovich contends. Using broad language, this Court held that the same rationale that permits an otherwise time barred "defense of recoupment" also permits an otherwise time barred "compulsory counterclaim" for "affirmative relief" and "affirmative judgment." 503 So.2d at 1240. Plainly, that holding allows Atkins' compulsory counterclaim for specific performance and damages, especially considering its similarity with the counterclaim in Allie. 9

Although Rybovich carefully avoids any mention of the word, much of its argument is based on "laches." Rybovich's brief is replete with allegations of Atkins' "neglect" in filing his counterclaim, of Atkins' failure to exercise "reasonable promptness," that Atkins "slept on his rights," and so on. 10

It should be noted that the reasoning and holding in Allie is not novel. In Rubenstein v. Burleigh House, Inc., 305 So.2d 311 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), the Third District Court of Appeal held a statute of limitation inapplicable because the defendant "was not surprised nor prejudiced by the [lawsuit]." Id. at 314. The court explained that "when . . . the reasons for the statute of limitations do not exist, . . . a liberal rule should be applied." Id., quoting New York Cent. & H.R.R. Co. v. Kinney, 260 U.S. 340, 346 (1922) (Holmes, J.). See also B & H Sales, Inc. v. Fusco Corp., 342 So.2d 105, 107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977) (court refused to "literally enforce" one year statute of limitation applicable to mechanic's lien actions where the plaintiff materialman wrongfully sued the fictitious name of the corporation that owned the real property, since to so enforce the statute would have been "manifestly unjust").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Rybovich conveniently ignores the fact that Atkins did not immediately file his counterclaim because concurrent with his

Indeed, Rybovich devotes an entire section of its brief (B6) to the argument that specific performance claims must comply with "the reasonable promptness requirement." Here again Rybovich avoids any mention of "laches," only this time it quotes the holding in Shirley v. Lake Butler Corp., 123 So.2d 267 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960), that a purchaser's right to specific performance "may be barred by his own laches." Id. at 271.

The reason for Rybovich's reluctance to identify the legal basis of its argument is that Rybovich did not assert laches as an affirmative defense to Atkins' counterclaim for specific performance. AA 245-246. Therefore, laches has been waived, see Gause v. First Bank, 457 So.2d 582, 585 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Goldberger v. Regency Highland Condo. Ass'n, 452 So.2d 583, 585 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984), and Rybovich cannot rely on it here as support for the dismissal of the counterclaim. See Epperson v. Dixie Ins. Co., 461 So.2d 172, 175-76 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), rev. denied, 471 So.2d 43 (Fla. 1985); Gisela Investments, N.V. v. Liberty Mutual Ins. Co., 452 So.2d 1056, 1057 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984); Board of Public Instruction v. Travelers Indem. Co., 190 So.2d 32, 34 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966), aff'd, 198 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1967). 11

Equally unsound is Rybovich's argument that allowing time barred claims for specific performance as compulsory counterclaims will have an adverse effect on the marketability of

answer and affirmative defenses to Rybovich's complaint, RA 13-18, Atkins filed a motion for an enlargement of time to file a counterclaim, RA 19-20, which motion the trial court never ruled on.

<sup>11</sup> Rybovich also improperly argued laches in the Fourth District. That court correctly ignored the argument. RA 1-4.

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